# IN THE COURT APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-TS-01547-COA

PEGGY CRIST; THERESA EDWARDS; PATRICIA GUTHRIE; JANE HAMILTON; HELEN HEARD; BERTHA MIXON; JENNIE PARKER; JAMES REED, JR.; GLENDA RIVERS; PAMELA ROBINSON; KAREN THORNTON; VIRGINIA TOWNSEND; VERA WELLS; MARY WHITTINGTON; LINDA WILLIAMS; AND PEGGY WINTERS PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

VS.

# PAUL KELLY LOYACONO AND E. SCOTT VERHINE DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

DAVID L. MINYARD, MS BAR NO Hill & Minyard, P.A. 1210 Office Park Drive, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor P.O. Box 429 Oxford, Mississippi 38655-0429 Telephone (662) 234-4315

# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court enjoys appellate jurisdiction over this action pursuant to §11-51-3 of the Mississippi Code, which provides that an appeal may be taken to the Supreme Court from any final judgment of a circuit or chancery court in a civil case, not being a judgment by default, by any of the parties or legal representative of such parties.

VI.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY APPLIED THE STANDARD OF LAW RELATED TO LEGAL MALPARACTICE BASED ON THE FACTS OF THIS CASE. ALTERNATIVELY, THE APPELLATE COURT SHOULD RECOGNIZE THAT THE FACTS OF THIS CASE WOULD REQUIRE FURTHER CLARIFICATION OF THE APPLICATION OF LAW RELATED TO LEGAL MALPRACTICE LAWSUITS.
- 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXCLUDED THE KEITH MORGAN MATRIX AND RELATED TESTIMONY THERETO FROM THIS CASE.

#### VII.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Plaintiffs<sup>1</sup> had been represented by attorneys Paul Kelly Loyacono and E. Scott Verhine (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Loyacono & Verhine") in actions against American Home Products Corporation (hereinafter referred to as "AHP") due to Plaintiffs' use of the diet drugs "Fen-phen," Pondimin and Redux. On January 5, 2004, Plaintiffs filed suit in Hinds County Circuit Court against their former attorneys Loyacono & Verhine and certain law firms and attorneys for AHP<sup>2</sup> asserting claims for legal malpractice based upon breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, gross negligence and conspiracy. Plaintiffs essentially alleged Loyacono & Verhine knowingly negotiated inadequate settlement agreements for their own financial gain and knowingly made material misrepresentation to induce Plaintiffs to accept such settlement agreements. Loyacono & Verhine filed a motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, for summary judgment on the ground that Plaintiffs' claims were barred by the statute of limitations, upon which the lower court did in fact grant summary judgment. Plaintiffs appealed to this Court, and this Court affirmed in part and reversed and remanded in part.<sup>3</sup>

On remand, the lower court bifurcated discovery such that the first phase of discovery was dedicated to determining those Plaintiffs whose claims were barred due to the statute of limitations. Defendants then filed a motion for summary judgment to dismiss certain Plaintiffs, which was denied by the lower court on June 17, 2008. The parties then entered into the second

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For ease of identification and to avoid confusion, this Brief will refer to the instant Appellants as "Plaintiffs."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All of these AHP-related defendants were later dismissed by the trial court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Channel v. Loyacono, 954 So.2d 415 (Miss. 2007). This Court held that if a Plaintiff knew prior to January 1, 2001, of any alleged wrongdoing by Loyacono & Verhine, his claims were barred by the statute of limitations. <u>Id.</u> at 422. The issue was remanded due to the fact that the record did not specify the time by which each Plaintiff had notice of any wrongdoing. <u>Id.</u> at 423.

phase of discovery regarding Plaintiffs' substantive claims. On March 10, 2009, Loyacono & Verhine filed Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendants' Motion in Limine. R. at 247, 252. In response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs conceded that their separate claims for negligence and gross negligence should be dismissed as they were subsumed into their claim for legal malpractice. R. at 532, 546-I. Thus, only Plaintiffs' claims for (1) legal malpractice based upon breach of fiduciary duty and material misrepresentation and (2) legal malpractice based upon negligence and (3) conspiracy remained.

On March 23, 2009, the lower court conducted a hearing on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and on the limited issue of Defendants' Motion in Limine seeking to exclude Keith Morgan's settlement matrices and testimony related thereto. The lower court sustained Defendants' Motion in Limine in regard to Morgan's settlement matrices and related testimony and found:

[t]hat evidence concerning the Keith Morgan Matrixes [sic], which were based, to a degree, on another attorney's matrix, is inadmissible on the grounds of hearsay, lack of any supporting documentation, the failure to designate Morgan as an expert, and speculation. The testimony by Morgan about what he, without any medical support, considered to be the existence of a claim, would be speculative, hearsay, and would only be admissible under Rule 702. Rule 701 clearly states that a witness, not designated as an expert, cannot present evidence which is: "...based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of Rule 702." (emphasis added).

RE-3.

The lower court likewise sustained Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. The lower court held that, in order to establish a claim for legal malpractice, Plaintiffs "must prove by a preponderance of the evidence (1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship; (2) negligence on the part of the lawyer in handling his client's affairs entrusted to him; and (3) injury that was proximately caused by the lawyer's negligence." RE-2 at 890 (citing Wilbourn v.

Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So.2d 1205, 1215 (Miss. 1996)). Citing the Wilbourn opinion, the trial court additionally held that, in order for Plaintiffs to establish proximate cause, they had the burden of proving that "but for the attorney's negligence, he would have been successful in the prosecution or defense of the underlying action." RE-2 at 890 (citing Wilbourn, 687 So.2d at 1215)). The lower court held:

In this case, Plaintiffs were required to make out a prima facie case that, if Plaintiffs had not entered into the settlements at issue, they would have prevailed on their underlying claims against AHP, <u>and</u> they would have been awarded a monetary sum greater than the settlements negotiated by Defendants. Plaintiffs failed to present any evidence to establish that they would have successful in their underlying tort claims against AHP, or that, if successful, they would have been awarded more money than they received in the settlements at issue. Plaintiffs' only designated expert witness, William McMurry, an attorney from Kentucky, did not express any opinions as to whether Plaintiffs would have been successful in their underlying claims against AHP. Furthermore, Plaintiffs failed to designate a medical expert to establish proximate cause in the underlying case, i.e., to establish that each Plaintiff had a medical injury, and that such alleged injury was proximately caused by an AHP diet drug. Without such legal and medical expert testimony, Plaintiffs cannot prove their case.

RE-2 at 890.

The lower court entered the Final Judgment dismissing with prejudice Plaintiffs' claims against Loyacono & Verhine on August 25, 2009. RE-4. Plaintiffs noticed their appeal to this honorable Court on September 23, 2009. RE-5.

### B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. <u>Summary</u>: Rather than collect Twenty-five Percent of the attorneys fees on a higher settlement, Loyacono & Verhine intentionally set out to collect One Hundred Percent of the attorneys fees on a lower lump sum settlement for their clients (including the Plaintiffs) through a course of wrongful conduct and numerous breaches of fiduciary duties owed Plaintiffs by Defendants. Loyacono & Verhine forced a backdoor, bottom-dollar settlement so that they

could obtain their increased attorneys fees before the sole attorneys of record could learn of their scheme. Loyacono & Verhine materially misrepresented facts to clients, negotiated the actual lump sum settlement monies as between their own clients and failed to distribute settlement monies to the Plaintiffs based on their medical injury pursuant to some sort of scale or matrix, such that a value is assigned to each client's claim. Had the Defendants not breached multiple fiduciary duties to the clients, the Plaintiffs' claims would have been settled for a far greater sum of money.

- 2. <u>Verhine Approaches Morgan to Handle "Fen-phen Claims</u>: Toward the end of year 1999, attorney Keith Morgan (of the law firm Varas & Morgan) informed Defendant attorney Scott Verhine that Morgan was in the process of developing "Fen-phen" cases. R. at 314 (Morgan Dep.). Verhine, who practiced law individually in Vicksburg, Mississippi, advised Morgan that he could develop clients in Vicksburg and asked Morgan to be associated on those cases and "handle it for us." R. at 314 (Morgan Dep.).
- 3. The Hiring of Loyacono & Verhine: In February and March of 2000, Loyacono & Verhine entered into written contracts to represent fifty-five local individuals (hereinafter referred to as "the clients), including the present Plaintiffs, against AHP for injuries sustained through the use of certain diet drugs manufactured by AHP including "Fen-phen," Pondimin and Redux. R. at 321-Q (Verhine Affidavit).
- 4. <u>Loyacono & Verhine Associate Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group</u>: In late February or early March of 2000, by verbal agreement Loyacono & Verhine forwarded approximately fifty-five clients to the law firm of Varas & Morgan and Varas & Morgan's associated attorneys (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Morgan's Litigation Group") to litigate the claims of Loyacono & Verhine's clients, for which Loyocano & Verhine would receive Twenty-five Percent of the attorneys fees. R. at 313, 315 (Morgan Dep.), 608 (Verhine

- Corr.). That verbal agreement was memorialized in writing in a letter by Defendant attorney Verhine to Keith Morgan on May 21, 2000, which essentially demonstrates that Loyacono & Verhine's role was to be the "face guys" for these forwarded clients R. at 608 (Verhine Corr.)
- Morgan's Litigation Group & Morgan's Representation of the Fifty-Five Clients: Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group filed lawsuits on behalf of the fifty-five clients and, consequently, became their attorneys of record. R. at 568 (Morgan Dep.). Neither Loyacono nor Verhine entered an appearance or otherwise entered any of the actions on behalf of the clients and, consequently, were never attorneys of record for those fifty-five clients. R. at 572 (Morgan Dep.). Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group opted the clients out of the national class action suit; Morgan kept Verhine & Loyacono abreast of the litigation developments; Morgan met with the clients; and Morgan and his group retained medical expert Dr. Malcom Taylor to analyze and report the echocardiograms for each client. R. at 312-313 (Morgan Dep.).
- 6. Loyacono & Verhine Begin Secret Negotiations to Procure Settlements Without the Knowledge of their Attorneys of Record: As late as October 3, 2000, Scott Verhine wrote the clients that "eight attorneys with approximately twenty support secretaries are working on your individual claims," obviously meaning Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group. R. at 613 (Verhine Corr.). Suddenly, on October 23, 2000, Verhine wrote the clients and advised them of his desire to have individual, private meetings with them in November, of which he does not advise Morgan. R. at 615 (Verhine Corr.). Shortly thereafter in November 2000, Loyacono & Verhine joined two clients with an Alabama group of plaintiffs and secretly settled their claims

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The filed cases were: <u>Green, et al. v. American Home Products' Corp., et al.</u>, Civil Action Number 2000-143, in the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Mississippi; <u>Williams, et al. v. American Home Products' Corp., et al.</u>, Civil Action Number 2000-2000, in the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Mississippi; <u>Harried, et al. v. American Home Products' Corp., et al.</u>, Civil Action Number 2000-109, in the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Mississippi.

with AHP without first apprising Morgan or Morgan's Litigation Group. R. at 586 (Verhine Dep.), 573 (Morgan Dep.).

On December 4 -6, 2000, Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group attended a mediation session with AHP on behalf of the clients at a Gulf Coast casino. Verhine attended one day, and Loyacono failed to attend. RE-10. At this point, Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group are oblivious to the fact that Loyacono & Verhine have begun secret negotiations with AHP. As he would later admit during his deposition in this matter, Loyacono specifically intended to conceal these backdoor settlement negotiations with AHP from the clients' attorneys of record Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group. R. 594-595 (Loyacono Dep.). Not surprisingly, AHP offers a very low lump sum settlement to Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group, which they do not accept. R. at 564 (Morgan Depo.).

On December 11, 2000, Verhine issued correspondence to the clients that indicates that their interests are still being represented by Morgan and Morgan's Litigation Group. R. at 637 (Verhine Corr.). Yet, on December 13, 2000, Loyacono secretly wrote to AHP attorney Brian Lietch on plain paper (i.e., not on his firm's letterhead) and insisted that the listed plaintiffs were his individual clients and that he had authority to act for them. R. at 639-641 (Loyacono Corr). He further advised Leitch, ""[s]ince these cases in the past have been presented as a part of another group of cases, Varas-Morgan, I would ask that you treat my communication confidentially. Please communicate only with me about these cases during these negotiations for it we are not able to agree, we will probably still remain with that group." R. at 639-641 (Loyacono Corr.) (emphasis in original). Loyacono attached to this correspondence a master sheet of the list of plaintiffs and what purports to be corresponding echocardiograms test reports. R. at 639-641 (Loyacono Corr). On December 22, 2000, Loyacono & Verhine secretly began

bringing the clients into the office to sign settlement agreements with AHP without advising counsel of record. R. at 647 – 798 (Clients' Collective Releases).

- 7. Morgan Discovers the Backdoor Dealings: On December 28, 2000, Vicksburg attorney Jerry Campbell telephones Morgan and informs him that Loyacono & Verhine were settling the clients' cases with AHP. R. at 577-578 (Morgan Dep.) Morgan immediately issued a letter to AHP attorney Brian Leitch declaring that he understood settlements were being negotiated by Loyacono but that he (Morgan) was counsel of record for these clients and had not been released by the court. RE-6. By letter dated January 4, 2001, Loyacono sought verification form AHP attorney Brian Leitch and Jackson attorney Lee Davis Thames, who assisted AHP with its Mississippi cases, that AHP would settle the clients' cases for 4.1 Million Dollars. RE-7. At that time, Loyacono and Thames's children were married, and Loyacono and Thames were former law partners. R. at 591-592 (Loyacono Dep.). Loyacono failed to disclose these relationships and potential conflicts of interest with any of the clients. R. at 591-592 (Loyacono Depo.). Loyacono enclosed a proposed indemnification agreement whereby AHP lawyers would be indemnified by Loyacono in the event that a claim was made against AHP by Morgan or Morgan's Litigation Group due to these settlements. RE-7, R. at 832 (AHP/Loyacono Indemnity Agreement). Loyacono falsely informed Leitch and Thames that he had fired Morgan, which Loyacono had not done at that point. RE-7.
- 8. <u>Loyacono & Verhine "Fire" Morgan</u>: On January 5, 2001, after all of the settlement agreements had been signed, Loyacono issued two letters to Morgan stating that Morgan was fired as associated counsel, one of which was dated January 4<sup>th</sup> (but not sent on that date) and one dated January 5th. RE-8. Loyacono then wrote another letter to Leitch on January 8, 2001, requesting to set up a conference call and indicating that he wanted to end the settlement process soon because some clients were changing their minds about the settlements. RE-9. Also

on January 8, 2001, Morgan wrote a letter to Loyacono acknowledging receipt of the termination letters but asserting his representation could only be terminated with leave of court. RE-10.

9. Loyacono & Verhine's Distribution of Settlement Monies: On January 10, 2001, more than one month after Loyacono & Verhine began obtaining clients' settlement releases, Loyacono forwarded Leitch the signed releases, proof of usage forms and proof of opt-out forms for thirty-four clients and asserted his demand to settle thirty-one initial opt-out cases and three intermediate opt-out cases for Four Million Fifty Thousand Dollars. RE-11. Loyacono emphasized that all communications regarding these settlements were to go only through him. RE-11. Also on January 10, 2001, Loyacono issued a cryptic letter (not on letterhead) to attorney Lee Davis Thames and referenced inclusion of a court decision to which he had referred in a letter faxed to Thames the previous week; Loyacono again emphasized that all communication should be only with him. RE-12. On January 26, 2001, Loyacono again wrote Thames and another individual, enclosing his termination letter to Morgan and another letter from Morgan to a client who had fired Loyacono, which he asked not be made available to anyone absent court order. RE-13.

On January 23, 2001, Loyacono faxed a letter to AHP attorney Jonathon Boonin instructing him to wire the settlement proceeds into two accounts, of which Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars was to be deposited into Loyacono's Trust Account II and the remaining Five Hundred Thousand Dollars was to be deposited into the Loyacono Law Firm General Account. RE-14. Obviously the court had not at this point in time approved the attorney's fees. Nonetheless, Loyacono & Verhine considered the Five Hundred Thousand Dollars to be their attorneys fees, which were immediately withdrawn by Loyacono & Verhine. R. at 597-599 (Loyacono Dep.). The following day, Loyacono faxed a sample settlement disbursement form to attorney Boonin which listed different amounts and types of withheld expenses then those

actually charged to the clients. RE-15. Settlement monies were disbursed to all of the plaintiffs on January 26, 2001. R. at 647-798 (Clients' Collective Releases).

Medical Condition and Negotiate the Settlement Amounts as Between the Clients (Not AHP):

Loyacono & Verhine failed to evaluate the medical conditions of these clients prior to assigning portions of the lump sum settlement to each client. For instance, Plaintiffs Jane Hamilton and Glenda Rivers signed their medical releases for Verhine to obtain their medical records on the very day that they signed their settlement releases. R. 808-811 (Christ, Edwards Releases). Even more indicative of this failure is the fact that clients with the same level of injury received different sums. For instance, of the eight clients who took the diet drugs but had echocardiograms demonstrating no injury, Jane Hamilton, Jennie Parker and Glenda Rivers received gross settlements of Seventy-two Thousand Dollars from Loyacono & Verhine whereas Helen Heard, Alice McCraven, Bertha Mixon, Karen Thornton and Peggy Winters received Forty-five Thousand Dollars. RE-19; R. at 647-798 (Plaintiffs Collective Releases); RE-17 (Generated by Loyacono & Verhine After Settlement Releases Signed).

Patricia Gurthrie, Pamela Robison and Molly Robinson also had the same level of injury, yet each received amounts varying from One Hundred Thousand Dollars to Two Hundred Thousand Dollars. RE-19; R. at 647-798 (Plaintiffs Collective Releases); RE-17 (Generated by Loyacono & Verhine After Settlement Releases Signed). Peggy Christ, Theresa Edwards and Mary Whittington -- all of whom had more serious injury than Patricia Gurthrie, Pamela Robison and Molly Robinson -- received only One Hundred Thousand Dollars, which is a sum less than that received by Ms. Guthrie and Ms. Robinson. RE-19; R. at 647-798 (Plaintiffs Collective

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While there is nothing wrong with negotiating a lump sum settlement, it is essential that each client first be placed on a scale, or matrix, and a value assigned to each level of the matrix prior to negotiating the settlement.

Releases); RE-17 (Generated by Loyacono & Verhine After Settlement Releases Signed). Those clients with the most severe injuries also received varied settlements ranging from Vera Wells at One Hundred Thousand Dollars to James Reed at Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars.<sup>6</sup> RE-19; R. at 647-798 (Plaintiffs Collective Releases); RE-17 (Generated by Loyacono & Verhine After Settlement Releases Signed).

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