#### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01547

PEGGY CRIST; THERESA EDWARDS; PATRICIA GUTHRIE; JANE HAMILTON; HELEN HEARD; BERTHA MIXON; JENNIE PARKER; JAMES REED, JR.; GLENDA RIVERS; PAMELA ROBINSON; KAREN THORNTON; VIRGINIA TOWNSEND; VERA WELLS; MARY WHITTINGTON; LINDA WILLIAMS; AND PEGGY WINTERS

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

# PAUL KELLY LOYACONO AND E. SCOTT VERHINE

APPELLEES

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Court should affirm the lower court's grant of summary judgment for Loyacono & Verhine. Plaintiffs' new argument is that the causation requirement in a legal malpractice action does not apply to a claim based on breach of fiduciary duty. However, Plaintiffs never made this argument below, and as a result, they have waived the issue on appeal. Even if the Court were to consider Plaintiffs' new legal argument, that argument is without merit. To make out a genuine issue of material fact for trial in a legal malpractice action in which the claim is based on the alleged mishandling of an underlying suit or the settlement thereof, a plaintiff must satisfy the usual proximate cause requirement of showing by admissible evidence that the plaintiff would have prevailed in the underlying suit and there would have been a more favorable result, regardless of whether the act or omission at issue is negligence or breach of a fiduciary duty. Finally, summary judgment is appropriate because Plaintiffs did not offer any admissible evidence of their damages. They made no showing that they were damaged as a result of Defendants' alleged malpractice or the extent of any damages. Because Plaintiffs failed to present specific facts sufficient to establish the existence of each element of their claim for legal malpractice, summary judgment should be affirmed.

The trial court's decision to exclude the Morgan Settlement Matrix and his opinion testimony related thereto should also be affirmed. Morgan's proposed testimony is impermissible opinion testimony offered by an individual who Plaintiffs conceded was not an expert and who was not designated as an expert. Because he is not an expert, Morgan's opinion testimony is not admissible under Rule 701 or 702. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting Defendants' motion in limine, thereby excluding the Morgan Settlement Matrix and his opinion testimony related thereto.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO SHOW AN ISSUE OF FACT ON EACH ELEMENT OF THEIR LEGAL MALPRACTICE CLAIM

#### A. <u>The Standard of Review</u>

The standard for reviewing a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment is de novo. *Leffler v. Sharp*, 891 So. 2d 152, 156 (Miss. 2004); *Davis v. Hoss*, 869 So. 2d 397, 401 (Miss. 2004). Summary judgment is appropriate if, when taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Davis*, 869 So. 2d at 401; *Russell v. Orr*, 700 So. 2d 619, 622 (Miss. 1997). The existence of a genuine issue of material fact will preclude summary judgment. *Massey v. Tingle*, 867 So. 2d 235, 238 (Miss. 2004). However, the mere presence of factual issues in the record does not automatically entitle a party to avoid summary judgment. *Simmons v. Thompson Mach. of Miss., Inc.*, 631 So. 2d 798, 801 (Miss. 1994). Rather, to defeat a motion for summary judgment, the contested issues of fact must be *material. Id.* ("[T]he existence of a hundred contested issues of fact will not thwart summary judgment where there is no genuine dispute

regarding the material issues of fact.").

If the moving party properly supports its motion for summary judgment, the party opposing the motion may not simply rest upon mere allegations or denials in the pleadings, but instead, must produce "significant probative evidence" demonstrating genuine issues of material fact. *Aladdin Constr. Co. v. John Hancock Life Ins. Co.*, 914 So. 2d 169, 175 (Miss. 2005); *Richmond v. Benchmark Constr. Corp.*, 692 So. 2d 60, 61 (Miss. 1997); *Young v. Wendy's Int'l Inc.*, 840 So. 2d 782, 784 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). The lower court's grant of summary judgment should be affirmed if, after reviewing the record, it is evident that no triable issue of fact exists. *Coleman Powermate, Inc. v. Rheem Mfg. Co.*, 880 So. 2d 329 (Miss. 2004); *Simpson v. Boyd*, 880 So. 2d 1047, 1050 (Miss. 2004). Here, the lower court properly determined that there are no genuine issues of material fact and Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Therefore, the Court should affirm summary judgment for Loyacono & Verhine.

# B. <u>Plaintiffs Waived Their New Argument Regarding the Causation Element</u> for a Legal Malpractice Claim Based on Breach of Fiduciary Duty

On appeal, Plaintiffs argue for the first time that no evidence, expert or otherwise, regarding the success and/or value of the underlying claim is required in a legal malpractice case if the malpractice is based on an alleged breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiffs, however, never made that argument to the trial court below. RE. 1 (Plaintiffs' Response). The Court has been "consistent in holding that [it] need not consider matters raised for the first time on appeal, which practice would have the practical effect of depriving the trial court of the

opportunity to first rule on the issue." *Williams v. Skelton*, 6 So. 3d 428 (Miss. 2009) (quoting *Alexander v. Daniel*, 904 So. 2d 172, 183 (Miss. 2005)). A trial judge cannot be held in error on a matter not presented to him for his decision. *Bender v. North Meridian Mobile Home Park*, 636 So. 2d 385 (Miss. 1994).

The Court has repeatedly applied this well-settled principle in cases where the lower court granted summary judgment and the appellant raised a new legal issue for the first time on appeal. For example, in *Stephens v. Miller*, 970 So. 2d 225, 226 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), this Court affirmed the circuit court's grant of summary judgment against the plaintiff. On appeal, the plaintiff raised a new issue, claiming that the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty because she was an invitee during the accident. Because the party did not raise the issue below, the Court refused to address the argument. Similarly, in *Williams v. Skelton*, 6 So. 3d 428, 430 (Miss. 2009), the Mississippi Supreme Court refused to address a new legal argument that was raised for the first time on appeal regarding the constitutionality of a statute, and affirmed the circuit court's grant of summary judgment. *See also Hataway v. Nicholls*, 893 So. 2d 1054, 1057 (Miss. 2005) (rejecting a new argument that was never presented to the chancery court and affirming the chancery court's grant of summary judgment).

In order to preserve an issue for purposes of appeal, a party must explicitly raise the argument below. For example, in *Triplett v. Mayor and Bd. of Aldermen of City of Vicksburg*, 758 So. 2d 399, 401 (Miss. 2000), the plaintiff, in a bill of exceptions to the

circuit court, alleged that the "provisions for appeal contained in the city ordinance constitute[d] a lack of due process in violation of the [plaintiff's] constitutional rights." In the brief on appeal, however, the plaintiff claimed that a Mississippi statute, rather than the city ordinance, violated due process. *Id.* The Supreme Court held that the issue was procedurally barred because it was raised for the first time on appeal. *Id.* In *Shaw v. Shaw*, 603 So. 2d 287, 292-93 (Miss. 1992), for the first time on appeal, the party contested the validity of a deed conveying the subject property. Because they had never alleged that the deed was executed as a result of undue influence, nor had they sought to have the conveyance set aside, the Court held that the party had waived the right to contest the validity of the conveyance. *Id.* 

The Court has applied this principle even if it agreed with the party on the new issue that was raised for the first time on appeal. For instance, in *Bender v. North Meridian Mobile Home Park*, 636 So. 2d 385, 389-90 (Miss. 1994), the appellant alleged on appeal that the attachment for rent statutes were unconstitutional. Because the issue was not specifically raised in the lower court, the Supreme Court was procedurally barred from directly addressing the issue on appeal. The Court explained that "[i]f the question was properly before the Court, it would very likely find the attachment for rent statutes unconstitutional." *Id.* However, the issue was procedurally barred from consideration.

In response to Loyacono & Verhine's motion for summary judgment, Plaintiffs did not argue that a claim for legal malpractice based on breach of fiduciary duty is not subject to the same causation standard as is a legal malpractice claim based on negligence; and Plaintiffs did not argue that they were not required to present proof regarding the underlying action because their malpractice claim was based on breach of fiduciary duty. They certainly never argued that a different standard applies to a case in which the alleged legal malpractice was a breach of fiduciary duty. Rather, Plaintiffs simply took the position that they were not required to present any evidence regarding the underlying claim because AHP was settling diet drug claims. RE. 1, R. 546-E (Plaintiffs' Response).

At the trial court level, Plaintiffs repeatedly argued that their malpractice claim was subject to the negligence standard.<sup>7</sup> For example, in their brief in opposition to Loyacono & Verhine's motion for summary judgment, Plaintiffs stated that they presented "genuine issues of material fact as to the *negligence* on the part of their lawyers in handling their settlements." RE. 1, R. 546-E (Plaintiffs' Response) (emphasis added). Citing *Wilbourn v. Stennett*, 687 So. 2d 1205, 1213 (Miss. 1996), Plaintiffs then stated that to prevail on their malpractice claim, they were required to show an attorney-client relationship, "*negligence* on the part of the lawyer," and that "the injury that was proximately caused by the lawyer's negligence." RE. 1, R. 546-D to -E (Plaintiffs' Response). Plaintiffs then cited several

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In their appellate brief, Plaintiffs contend that the trial court erred by applying the same causation standard to their legal malpractice claim based on breach of fiduciary duty as it did to the malpractice claim based on negligence. However, Plaintiffs do not argue that the lower court erred by requiring proof of success on the underlying claims with respect to their claim for legal malpractice based on negligence. Thus, Plaintiffs waived this argument. In addition, Plaintiffs did not raise the issue of the lower court's dismissal of their conspiracy claim. Therefore, the only remaining issue for this Court is whether the case-within-a-case causation element applies to legal malpractice claims that are based on both breach of fiduciary duty and negligence.

examples which allegedly established how Loyacono & Verhine were "negligent in handling [Plaintiffs'] affairs." RE. 1, R. 546-G to -H (Plaintiffs' Response). They did not, however, describe how Plaintiffs breached any fiduciary duty. Clearly, in opposing summary judgment, Plaintiffs claimed and argued legal malpractice based on negligence. Because Plaintiffs never raised the issue regarding the causation standard that applies to legal malpractice claims that are based on breach of fiduciary duty, they waived this issue. The Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment.

## C. <u>The Causation Element Is Not Eliminated in a Legal Malpractice Claim</u> <u>Based on Breach of Fiduciary Duty</u>

#### 1. Plaintiffs Failed to Offer Admissible Evidence of Proximate Cause

Even if Plaintiffs' new argument were properly before the Court, the argument is without merit. Although Mississippi has recognized that legal malpractice may be based on negligence or breach of fiduciary duty, the causation element is applicable to every claim for malpractice. A showing of causation is required whether the legal malpractice claim is based on negligence or breach of fiduciary duty. *See, e.g., Weil, Gotshal & Manges, LLP v. Fashion Boutique of Short Hills, Inc.*, 780 N.Y.S.2d 593 (N.Y. 2004) (holding that whether the same rules of causation apply whether the claim is based on fiduciary duty or negligence). In essence, Plaintiffs are asking the Court to carve out an exception to a well-established rule of law that would eliminate the causation element, essentially creating a strict liability standard, for a legal malpractice claim that is based on breach of fiduciary duty rather than negligence. It would be contrary to established law, as well as illogical, to have two different

standards of causation depending upon whether the plaintiff asserted a claim for legal malpractice based on negligence or breach of fiduciary duty. To make out a genuine issue of material fact for trial in a legal malpractice action in which the claim is based on the alleged mishandling of an underlying suit or the settlement thereof, a plaintiff must satisfy the usual proximate cause requirement of showing by admissible evidence that the plaintiff would have prevailed in the underlying suit and there would have been a more favorable result, *regardless* of whether the act or omission at issue is negligence or breach of a fiduciary duty.

Every legal malpractice cases requires the plaintiff to establish causation. The vehicle or means by which a party shows causation is the "case-within-a-case" method. In order to establish a claim for legal malpractice based on allegations of negligence, Plaintiffs must prove by a preponderance of the evidence (1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship; (2) negligence on the part of the lawyer in handling his client's affairs entrusted to him; and (3) some injury proximately caused by the lawyer's negligence. *Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward*, 687 So. 2d 1205, 1215 (Miss. 1997). To show causation in a legal malpractice claim based on allegations of negligence, the plaintiff bears the burden of establishing by a preponderance of the evidence causation by showing that "but for the attorney's negligence, he would have been successful in the prosecution or defense of the underlying action." *Wilbourn*, 687 So. 2d at 1215. It is well-settled that "expert testimony is necessary to establish the breach of the duty of care in a claim of legal malpractice" based on negligence. Lane v. Oustalet, 873 So. 2d 92, 99 (Miss. 2004).

The elements of a claim based on breach of fiduciary duty are "the same as other legal malpractice actions except, instead of proving negligence, the plaintiff must prove a violation of the attorney's fiduciary duty." Lane, 873 So. 2d at 99. Therefore, "the plaintiff must prove the existence of an attorney-client relationship, an act or acts in violation of the attorney's fiduciary duty, the violation of that fiduciary duty caused injury, and the fact and extent of the injury." Williams v. Williamson, 2006 WL 47355, \*2 (S.D. Miss. Jan. 6, 2006). In addition, the Court has been clear that a showing of proximate cause is required in breach of fiduciary duty cases. "Recovery [for an attorney's breach of a fiduciary duty], requires proof of proximate cause." Singleton v. Stegall, 580 So. 2d 1242, 1245 (Miss. 1991). Moreover, in *Wilbourn*, the Court stated that the plaintiff must establish that the "fiduciary breach was a proximate cause of the injury. These requirements are consistent with the Hickox requirement of proximate cause." Wilbourn, 687 So. 2d at 1217. Simply stated, this Court has never held that the causation element is eliminated if the alleged malpractice is based on breach of fiduciary duty. That is not the law, nor would it make sense.

## 2. Expert Testimony Is Necessary Where Plaintiffs' Claims Are Based on an Allegedly Inadequate Settlement

In their Opening Brief, Plaintiffs argue that expert testimony is not required in a legal malpractice case that is based on breach of fiduciary duty. That is not the law. "Expert testimony usually is necessary to establish a fiduciary breach because the standards governing loyalty and confidentiality may not be matters of common knowledge." Mallen & Smith,

*Legal Malpractice* § 35:20 at 1286. Under Mississippi law, whether expert testimony is required in malpractice claims based on a breach of fiduciary duty depends on the nature of the case.

In support of their argument that expert testimony is not necessary in a legal malpractice case based on breach of fiduciary duty, Plaintiffs rely on *Lane v. Oustalet*, 873 So. 2d 92 (Miss. 2004), and *Pierce v. Cook*, 992 So. 2d 612 (Miss. 2008). However, both of these cases are distinguishable from the facts at issue here. These cases establish that whether expert testimony is necessary depends on the nature of the case. In addition, neither case states that a showing of proximate cause is not required when the claim is one for breach of fiduciary duty.

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